

DEVON & SOMERSET FIRE & RESCUE AUTHORITY

M. Pearson CLERK TO THE AUTHORITY

To: The Chair and Members of the Appointments & Disciplinary Committee

(see below)

SERVICE HEADQUARTERS THE KNOWLE CLYST ST GEORGE EXETER DEVON EX3 0NW

Your ref : Our ref : DSFRA/MP/SY Website : www.dsfire.gov.uk Date : 4 August 2021 Please ask for : Steve Yates Email : syates@dsfire.gov.uk Telephone : 01392 872200 Fax : 01392 872300 Direct Telephone : 01392 872329

APPOINTMENTS & DISCIPLINARY COMMITTEE (Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority)

Thursday, 12 August, 2021

A meeting of the Appointments & Disciplinary Committee will be held on the above date, **commencing at 10.00am in Committee Room A, Somerset House, Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Service Headquarters** to consider the following matters.

M. Pearson Clerk to the Authority

<u>A G E N D A</u>

PLEASE REFER TO THE NOTES AT THE END OF THE AGENDA LISTING SHEETS

1 <u>Apologies</u>

2 <u>Minutes</u> (Pages 1 - 2)

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the [former] Appraisals & Disciplinary Committee held on 24 March 2021, attached. *Note*: the Appraisals & Disciplinary Committee was decommissioned by the Authority at its annual meeting on 29 June 2021 and replaced by this Committee.

3 Items Requiring Urgent Attention

Items which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be considered at the meeting as matters of urgency.

PART 1 - OPEN COMMITTEE

4 Exclusion of the Press and Public

RECOMMENDATION that, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the following Paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as amended) to the Act:

- Paragraph 1 (information relating to an individual); and
- Paragraph 2 (information likely to reveal the identity of an individual).

PART 2 - ITEMS WHICH MAY BE TAKEN IN THE ABSENCE OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

5 <u>Appointment of Authority Non-Executive Directors to the Board of Red One</u> <u>Ltd.</u> (Pages 3 - 84)

Report of the Director of Governance & Digital Services (ADC/21/1) attached.

MEMBERS ARE REQUESTED TO SIGN THE ATTENDANCE REGISTER

Membership:-

Councillors Randall Johnson (Chair), Best, Hannaford and Thomas.

NOTES		
1.	Any person wishing to inspect any minutes, reports or lists of background papers relating to any item on this agenda should contact the person listed in the "Please ask for" section at the top of this agenda.	
2.	Reporting of Meetings	
	Any person attending a meeting may report (film, photograph or make an audio recording) on any part of the meeting which is open to the public – unless there is good reason not to do so, as directed by the Chair - and use any communication method, including the internet and social media (Facebook, Twitter etc.), to publish, post or otherwise share the report. The Authority accepts no liability for the content or accuracy of any such report, which should not be construed as representing the official, Authority record of the meeting. Similarly, any views expressed in such reports should not be interpreted as representing the views of the Authority. Flash photography is not permitted and any filming must be done as unobtrusively as possible from a single fixed position without the use of any additional lighting; focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting and having regard also to the wishes of any member of the public present who may not wish to be filmed. As a	
	matter of courtesy, anyone wishing to film proceedings is asked to advise the Chair or the Democratic Services Officer in attendance so that all those present may be made aware that is happening.	
3.	Declarations of Interests at meetings (Authority Members only)	
	If you are present at a meeting and you are aware that you have either a disclosable pecuniary interest, personal interest or non-registerable interest in any matter being considered or to be considered at the meeting then, unless you have a current and relevant dispensation in relation to the matter, you must:	
	 (i) disclose at that meeting, by no later than commencement of consideration of the item in which you have the interest or, if later, the time at which the interest becomes apparent to you, the existence of and – for anything other than a "sensitive" interest – the nature of that interest; and then 	
	 (ii) withdraw from the room or chamber during consideration of the item in which you have the relevant interest. 	
	If the interest is sensitive (as agreed with the Monitoring Officer), you need not disclose the nature of the interest but merely that you have an interest of a sensitive nature. You must still follow (i) and (ii) above.	
	Where a dispensation has been granted to you either by the Authority or its Monitoring Officer in relation to any relevant interest, then you must act in accordance with any terms and conditions associated with that dispensation.	
	Where you declare at a meeting a disclosable pecuniary or personal interest that you have not previously included in your Register of Interests then you must, within 28 days of the date of the meeting at which the declaration was made, ensure that your Register is updated to include details of the interest so declared.	

	NOTES (Continued)
4.	Part 2 Reports
	Members are reminded that any Part 2 reports as circulated with the agenda for this meeting contain exempt information and should therefore be treated accordingly. They should not be disclosed or passed on to any other person(s). Members are also reminded of the need to dispose of such reports carefully and are therefore invited to return them to the Committee Secretary at the conclusion of the meeting for disposal.
5.	Substitute Members (Committee Meetings only)
	Members are reminded that, in accordance with Standing Orders, the Clerk (or his representative) must be advised of any substitution prior to the start of the meeting. Members are also reminded that substitutions are not permitted for full Authority meetings.
6.	Other Attendance at Committees)
	Any Authority Member wishing to attend, in accordance with Standing Orders, a meeting of a Committee of which they are not a Member should contact the Democratic Services Officer (see "please ask for" on the front page of this agenda) in advance of the meeting.

Agenda Item 2

APPRAISALS AND DISCIPLINARY COMMITTEE

(Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Authority)

24 March 2021

Present:

Councillors Vijeh (Vice-Chair)(in the Chair), Best, Hannaford and Vijeh (Vice-Chair)

Also in attendance:

Bryony Houlden (Chief Executive, South West Councils and advisor to the Committee).

Apologies:

Councillor Randall Johnson

* ADC/14 Exclusion of the Press and Public

RESOLVED that, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public (with the exception of Bryony Houlden, Chief Executive, South West Councils and advisor to the Committee) be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the following Paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as amended) to the Act:

Paragraph 1 (information relating to an individual); and

Paragraph 2 (information likely to reveal the identity of an individual).

ADC/15 <u>Director of Finance & Resourcing (Authority Treasurer) - Interviews and</u> <u>Appointment</u>

(An item taken in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act during which the press and public were excluded from the meeting).

The Committee interviewed two candidates for the post of Director of Finance & Resourcing (Authority Treasurer).

RESOLVED

- (a). that Shayne Scott be appointed to the position of Director of Finance & Resourcing (commencement date to be confirmed); and
- (b). that, on commencement of employment, Shayne Scott be designated the individual so appointed as the officer with responsibility for the proper administration of the Authority's financial affairs (i.e. Authority Treasurer), in accordance with Section 112 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988.

* DENOTES DELEGATED MATTER WITH POWER TO ACT

The Meeting started at 9.00 am and finished at 2.00 pm

Agenda Item 5

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

APPENDIX G TO REPORT ADC/21/1

Corporate Governance Guidance and Principles for Unlisted Companies in the UK





Page 39

Sponsored by

Deloitte.

Corporate Governance Guidance and Principles for Unlisted Companies in the UK

An initiative of the IoD and ecoDa Page 40 This publication is a practical tool for the shareholders, directors and stakeholders of unlisted companies.

The original pan-European edition of the guidance - Corporate Governance Guidance and Principles for Unlisted Companies in Europe - was published by the European Confederation of Directors' Associations (ecoDa) in March 2010. It was developed by an ecoDa working group chaired by Prof. Dr. Lutgart Van den Berghe, Chairwoman of ecoDa's Policy Committee and Executive Director of GUBERNA (Belgium).

The working group also included:

- Juan Álvarez-Vijande, Chairman of ecoDa and Executive Director of IC-A (Spain);
- Dr. Roger Barker, Head of Corporate Governance at the IoD (UK);
- Philippe Decleire, Chairman of ecoDa's membership committee and Treasurer;
- Jean-Philippe Drescher, Chairman of ILA's Financial Companies' Committee (Luxembourg);
- Pascal Viénot, Affiliated Professor and Director of Governance programs at HEC Executive Education, Senior Partner of "Associés en Gouvernance" consulting firm, Rapporteur of IFA's mid-sized companies' commission (France);
- Irena Prijovic, ecoDa board member and Secretary General of ZNS (Slovenia);
- Béatrice Richez-Baum, Secretary General of ecoDa;
- Olli V. Virtanen, ecoDa Board Member, Chairman of ecoDa's Sponsorship and External Communication Committee and Secretary General of Hallitusammattilaiset ry (Finland);
- Axelle Wibault, Junior Coordinator and Researcher, GUBERNA (Belgium).

ecoDa is particularly grateful to Prof. Dr. Lutgart Van den Berghe and Dr. Roger Barker, both of whom made significant contributions to the drafting of the pan-European version of the document.

This UK edition has been adapted for the UK business environment by Dr. Roger Barker, Head of Corporate Governance at the IoD.

Publication and distribution of this book in the UK has been made possible by the financial support of Deloitte.

First edition: November 2010 IoD. All rights reserved. Published by: Institute of Directors 116 Pall Mall London SW1Y 5ED www.iod.com

About the IoD

The IoD (Institute of Directors) was founded in 1903 and obtained a Royal Charter in 1906. The IoD is a non-party political organisation with upwards of 45,000 members in the United Kingdom and overseas. Membership includes directors from right across the business spectrum. The IoD provides an effective voice to represent the interests of its members to government and key opinion-formers at the highest levels.

The IoD places great emphasis on director development. Chartered Director – the IoD's flagship qualification for directors awarded under Royal Charter – is the only professional award of its kind. The IoD's Professional Development programmes provide specific board-level and director-level training, evaluation and individual career mentoring programmes for organisations and individuals in all sectors of the economy. www.iod.com.

About ecoDa

ecoDa, the European Confederation of Directors' Associations, is a not-for-profit association acting as the European voice of board directors, active since March 2005 and based in Brussels. On behalf of its 10 national institutes of directors, ecoDa ensures that their views on corporate governance are clearly communicated to policymakers in the EU institutions. ecoDa acts as a high-level forum for debate and for the exchange of experiences to promote high standards for directors in Europe. It acts as a standing body where national experiences are shared and discussed in detail. The IoD is one of the founders of ecoDa and Miles Templeman, Director General of the IoD, was chairman of ecoDa between 2007 and 2009. www.ecoda.org



Corporate Governance Guidance and Principles for Unlisted Companies in the UK

Quotes about the UK and European editions

"Here at Deloitte we believe passionately in the importance of the role played by unlisted companies in helping continued recovery in the UK economy. We believe that the Principles and Guidance being launched by the IoD will make a significant contribution to the governance of such companies. Acknowledging that good governance will look different depending on a company's size and situation, this short set of principles will help boards to challenge whether their existing governance arrangements are appropriate and keep these under review as they grow. And the comprehensive guidance supporting the principles will help boards to implement any necessary changes in a practical way. We are proud to be associated with this publication and commend it to all unlisted companies and their stakeholders."

Stuart Counsell, Managing Partner, Deloitte, London

"I very much welcome these guidelines which can facilitate effective management and development of unlisted businesses in Europe. Many unlisted companies are SMEs which are the hidden giants of our economy. Good governance presents major advantages for them especially when it comes to raising capital at competitive rates. A good corporate governance environment is also of major importance for SMEs wishing to set up in Europe and SMEs that wish to trade with companies in Europe. I would like to congratulate ecoDa for taking the initiative to issue this publication and I wish them every success with its widespread promotion."

Heinz Zourek, Director General, DG Enterprise and industry, European Commission, Brussels

"The global financial crisis has reminded us that it's nearly impossible to find a "silver bullet" in the form of laws and regulations to improve board performance. That leaves the private sector with a major responsibility to improve board practices through, inter alia, implementing voluntary standards. This is particularly the case in unlisted companies, where the long-term success of the company, including its strategy depends on an effective board."

Fianna Jesover, Senior Policy Manager, Corporate Affairs Division, OECD, Paris

"Family firms are a key part of the backbone of the UK economy contributing over 30% of our nation's GDP. Employment and growth are thus highly dependent upon the success of the family business sector. It is vital that the one million UK family firms that are legally incorporated, of which only a handful are listed on stockmarkets, should have the appropriate governance structures to ensure good decision making in their organisations. The IFB welcomes the publication of the Corporate Governance Guidance and Principles for Unlisted Companies. These guidelines call for family governance mechanisms that complement a robust corporate governance architecture. Progressive business families increasingly recognise the importance of creating decision making processes built on the twin pillars of family and corporate governance."

Grant Gordon, Director General, Institute for Family Business (UK)

"Unlisted companies are the lifeblood of the British economy so it is vital that owners and managers adhere to high standards of corporate governance. Those that are managed better, perform better, so the guidelines and principles laid out in this paper are to be strongly welcomed."

Simon Walker, Chief Executive, British Private Equity & Venture Capital Association (BVCA)

Foreword by the Director General of the IoD

Of the UK's 2.6 million registered companies, most are not listed or quoted on tradable equity markets. The overwhelming majority are SMEs or start-up companies that remain under the ownership and control of the founder or founding family.

Such unlisted enterprises lie at the heart of the UK economy. They account for a significant proportion of its GDP and employment. Furthermore, they are a key source of dynamism and entrepreneurial spirit. Their potential contribution to any economic recovery should not be underestimated.

The financial crisis has provided a stark reminder of the need for a robust governance framework in the global banking sector. However, good governance is not only relevant for financial institutions and large listed companies. The IoD is convinced that appropriate corporate governance practices can contribute to the success of UK companies of all types and sizes, including those that are unlisted or privately held.

In this document, fourteen principles of good governance for unlisted companies are presented on the basis of a dynamic phased approach. This takes into account the size, complexity and level of maturity of individual enterprises. Unlisted companies – such as founder and family-owned businesses – can utilise this stepwise framework to ensure their long-term sustainability, to bring external parties to their boards, to attract funds, and to solve issues between shareholders and other stakeholders.

Although only applicable on a voluntary basis, the Principles and Guidance included in this document provide practical advice for unlisted UK companies that wish to establish an effective and value-adding governance framework at each stage of their development process.

This initiative has been made possible thanks to the pioneering work of ecoDa, which developed the original European text from which this UK edition has been adapted.

Miles Templeman Director General, Institute of Directors



- This IoD and ecoDa initiative offers a corporate governance agenda for unlisted companies in the UK.
- Unlisted companies make a major contribution to UK economic growth and employment. However, the corporate governance needs of unlisted companies have, to date, been relatively neglected by governance experts as well as by policy-makers. In particular, the UK Corporate Governance Code is primarily aimed at listed rather than unlisted enterprises.
- Many unlisted enterprises are owned and controlled by single individuals or families. Good corporate governance in this context is not primarily concerned with the relationship between boards and external shareholders (as in listed companies). Nor is it mainly about compliance with formal rules and regulations. Rather, it is about establishing a framework of company processes and attitudes that add value to the business, help build its reputation and ensure its long-term continuity and success.
- Good corporate governance is particularly important to the shareholders of unlisted companies. In most cases, such shareholders have limited ability to sell their ownership stakes, and are therefore committed to staying with the company for the medium to long term. This increases their dependence on good governance.
- Good governance can also play a crucial role in gaining the respect of key external stakeholders. In an environment of mounting societal scrutiny towards the business world, even unlisted companies have to devote attention to their stakeholder responsibilities. Corporate reputation will benefit from a gradually increasing transparency and accountability.
- An effective governance framework defines roles, responsibilities and an agreed distribution of power amongst shareholders, the board, management and other stakeholders. Especially in smaller companies, it is important to recognise that the company is not an extension of the personal property of the owner.
- This briefing provides guidance for unlisted companies on the issues involved in designing an appropriate corporate governance framework. It also presents a set of governance principles that can be followed or not. This remains a voluntary decision of each unlisted company.
- Fourteen principles of good governance are presented on the basis of a dynamic phased approach, which takes into account the degree of openness, size, complexity and level of maturity of individual enterprises. A dynamic approach towards governance is essential, since governance frameworks must evolve over the life cycle of a business.
- A key step in the development of unlisted company governance is the decision to invite external directors onto the board. Its effect on boardroom behaviour and culture should not be underestimated.
- The principles provide a governance roadmap for family owners or founder-entrepreneurs as they plan the development of their companies over the corporate life cycle. These principles may be relevant for subsidiary companies and joint ventures as well. Even state-owned companies or social enterprise organisations can be inspired by the best practices laid down here.

Page 45

Phase 1 principles: Corporate governance principles applicable to <u>all</u> unlisted companies

Principle 1: Shareholders should establish an appropriate constitutional and governance framework for the company.

Principle 2: Every company should strive to establish an effective board, which is collectively responsible for the long-term success of the company, including the definition of the corporate strategy. However, an interim step on the road to an effective (and independent) board may be the creation of an advisory board.

Principle 3: The size and composition of the board should reflect the scale and complexity of the company's activities.

Principle 4: The board should meet sufficiently regularly to discharge its duties, and be supplied in a timely manner with appropriate information.

Principle 5: Levels of remuneration should be sufficient to attract, retain, and motivate executives and non-executives of the quality required to run the company successfully.

Principle 6: The board is responsible for risk oversight and should maintain a sound system of internal control to safeguard shareholders' investment and the company's assets.

Principle 7: There should be a dialogue between the board and the shareholders based on a mutual understanding of objectives. The board as a whole has responsibility for ensuring that a satisfactory dialogue with shareholders takes place. The board should not forget that all shareholders have to be treated equally.

Principle 8: All directors should receive induction on joining the board and should regularly update and refresh their skills and knowledge.

Principle 9: Family-controlled companies should establish family governance mechanisms that promote coordination and mutual understanding amongst family members, as well as organise the relationship between family governance and corporate governance.

Phase 2 principles: Corporate governance principles applicable to <u>large and/or more complex</u> unlisted companies

Principle 10: There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the head of the company between the running of the board and the running of the company's business. No one individual should have unfettered powers of decision.

Principle 11: All boards should contain directors with a sufficient mix of competencies and experiences. No single person (or small group of individuals) should dominate the board's decision-making.

Principle 12: The board should establish appropriate board committees in order to allow a more effective discharge of its duties.

Principle 13: The board should undertake a periodic appraisal of its own performance and that of each individual director.

Principle 14: The board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company's position and prospects for external stakeholders, and establish a suitable programme of stakeholder engagement.

Corporate Governance Guidance and Principles for Unlisted Companies in the UK

This publication is the UK edition of pan-European guidance developed by the European Confederation of Directors' Associations (ecoDa). It has been adapted to the UK business context by the Institute of Directors (IoD).

The following pages provide guidance and a set of **voluntary** "best practice" principles for UK companies, drawing on both the content of existing national and international corporate governance codes and the experience of good governance in individual unlisted enterprises.

The **guidance** is contained in **Part I** of the document, and is split into five main sections. The first two sections present the rationale for the publication of a set of corporate governance guidance and principles for unlisted companies. Sections 3 and 4 provide a glossary of the relevant governance actors and concepts that should be incorporated into a viable corporate governance framework. Section 5 considers some of the challenges involved in the implementation of good corporate governance.

The statement of the 14 corporate governance **principles** for unlisted companies is undertaken in **Part II.** Those readers that are already well versed in corporate governance concepts may wish to turn directly to Part II, in order to focus on the measures that can be directly applied at the level of each company.



Part I – Guidance on corporate governance for unlisted companies

The OECD defines corporate governance as follows:

"Corporate governance involves a set of relationships between a company's management, its board, its shareholders and other stakeholders. Corporate governance also provides the structure through which the objectives of the company are set, and the means of attaining those objectives and monitoring performance are determined. Good corporate governance should provide proper incentives for the board and management to pursue objectives that are in the interests of the company and its shareholders and should facilitate effective monitoring"¹.

1) Why focus on unlisted companies?

According to the UK Corporate Governance Code, the purpose of corporate governance is to facilitate effective, entrepreneurial and prudent management that can deliver the long-term success of the company².

The focus of the following corporate governance guidance and principles is on unlisted companies, i.e. limited companies that are not listed or quoted on public equity markets³. The scope of unlisted companies is very wide and encompasses start-ups, single owner-manager companies, family businesses, private equity-owned companies, joint ventures, and subsidiary companies. Moreover, many state-owned enterprises also form part of the unlisted company universe.

Unlisted companies are of particular importance in countries with less developed capital markets, where the vast majority of companies are not listed on a stock exchange or regulated market. But even in the UK, most small and medium-sized enterprises are not publicly listed on regulated equity markets. Furthermore, there exist many notable large corporations that have chosen – for a variety of reasons – to forgo a public listing.

According to the OECD, improved corporate governance amongst unlisted companies has the potential to significantly boost productivity growth and job creation⁴. However, despite their large numbers and economic importance, the governance of unlisted companies is an often neglected area of corporate governance studies and recommendations.

In recent years, many countries have adopted corporate governance codes⁵. The UK introduced its first corporate governance code in 1992 following the publication of the Cadbury Report. The latest edition of the UK Corporate Governance Code was published in June 2010 by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC).

However, most of these official codes relate to listed companies. In the absence of their own specific reference point, there is a danger that unlisted companies will refrain from developing an appropriate governance framework, with negative implications for their long-term effectiveness and success. Copying

¹ OECD Principles of Corporate Governance, 2nd Edition, 2004, page 11.

² UK Corporate Governance Code, page 1. Published by the Financial Reporting Council, June 2010.

³ The key difference between unlisted and listed companies is that unlisted companies do not issue their shares to the public. Consequently, their shares are not traded on public equity markets. They may also impose restrictions on the transferability of their shares.

⁴ Vermeulen (2006), page 93.

⁵ The first ever corporate governance code was published in 19 The United Sate By 2008, 64 countries had issued at least one code of governance. At an international level, the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance (file Office of Page and re-issued in 2004) have proved highly influential in shaping national governance agendas.

the widely-recognised principles of best practice for listed companies is also not a viable solution, as the corporate governance challenges of listed companies are distinct from those of unlisted companies.

Listed companies often have large numbers of external minority shareholders, and may be run by professional managers without significant ownership stakes. The governance framework of such companies tends to focus on ensuring that external shareholders can exercise effective oversight and control over management and the board of directors. This is often a challenge due to the remoteness of most external shareholders from company decision-making (the so-called "principal-agent" problem), and the difficulties involved in coordinating the actions of a diffuse body of small shareholders vis-à-vis management (the so-called "collective action" problem).

In contrast, most unlisted enterprises are owned and controlled by single individuals or coalitions of company insiders (e.g. a family). In many cases, owners continue to play a significant direct role in management. Good governance in this context is not a question of protecting the interests of absentee shareholders. Rather, it is concerned with establishing a framework of company processes and attitudes that add value to the business and help ensure its long-term continuity and success.

In many respects, unlisted companies face a greater corporate governance challenge than listed companies. Much of the governance framework of listed companies may be externally imposed by various types of regulation and formal listing requirements. In contrast, unlisted companies have greater scope to define (or not define!) their own governance strategy. This means that unlisted companies must themselves reflect on the potential costs and benefits of various governance approaches.

Furthermore, in contrast to larger listed enterprises, smaller unlisted entities may not have access to inhouse support (e.g. legal advisers or company secretarial resources) to assist them in making important decisions about governance. Determination of the governance framework will largely be a matter for the shareholders and directors, who may need extra specialist governance expertise, relevant reference frameworks as well as tools to assist them in realising the ambition of professional governance.

These considerations have persuaded the IoD and other European directors' associations that there is much to be gained from highlighting the specific governance issues of unlisted enterprises, and outlining best practice solutions in the form of a set of voluntary corporate governance principles.

2) Why corporate governance matters to unlisted companies

According to the OECD⁶, a corporate governance framework consists of three main elements:

- A set of relationships between a company's management, its board, its shareholders and other stakeholders.
- A structure through which the objectives of the company are set and the means of attaining those objectives and monitoring performance are determined.
- Proper incentives for the board and management to pursue objectives that are in the interests of the company and its shareholders.

The establishment of an effective governance framework that defines the firm's approach to each of these issues is of equal importance to listed and unlisted companies. However, there are a number of reasons why unlisted companies should specifically concern themselves with corporate governance.

i) Performance and internal efficiency

Corporate governance is ultimately concerned with the decision-making processes, procedures, and attitudes that assist the company in achieving its processes. 40 the framework within which decisions

⁶ OECD Principles of Corporate Governance (2004), page 11.

are made and power exercised. Consequently, as the firm seeks to improve the professionalism and sustainability of its activities, it needs to give greater thought to issues of governance.

This is a particular need if the firm wishes to shift away from dependence on the unique contribution of the founding entrepreneur. Although the ability and dynamism of one individual may have been instrumental in establishing the enterprise, this is unlikely to be sustainable in the longer term. As the enterprise grows in size and maturity – or outlives the interest or working life of the founder – governance processes must be established to ensure continuity and success beyond the efforts of one person.

Indeed, the development of effective governance processes may lift a significant burden from the founder, facilitate a swift succession and allow access to a wider pool of expertise and know-how. The result may be improved leadership, decision-making and strategic vision. Improved governance may also make it easier to monitor and manage the various risks to which the company is exposed, particularly as it grows in size and complexity.

Governance will also become an increasing issue for unlisted companies as they develop new sources of finance. Initially, the primary source of funds is likely to be retained earnings or financing from internal networks, e.g. families or associated corporate groups. However, unlisted companies may also turn to banks, venture capitalists, and private equity investors in order to finance their expansion and growth.

A greater reliance on such external sources of finance will necessitate the implementation of a more explicit governance framework, as external financiers seek assurance that their investments will be well managed.

In particular, the involvement of additional owners in the company – even if the founder retains a controlling stake – will require governance mechanisms to resolve differences between shareholders with potentially diverging agendas.

A governance structure that sustains the confidence of internal and external sources of finance – such as shareholders, banks and other creditors – will contribute to the long-term success of the firm by securing the commitment of patient capital partners. The reward to the company of such a governance structure will be more stable financing at lower cost than would otherwise be available.

ii) Managing patient capital and illiquidity risk

Shareholders in unlisted companies are typically restricted in terms of their ability to sell their ownership stakes. By definition, the shares of unlisted enterprises are not quoted or traded on public equity markets. Furthermore, company law restricts the sale or marketing of shares in non-listed companies to the general public (or even to any persons without a prior connection with the company or its existing shareholders).

Restrictions on the transfer of shares may also be introduced by the shareholders themselves (e.g. through the company's articles of association or shareholder agreements). As a result, the shareholders of unlisted companies may find themselves in the uneasy position of being "captive" owners of a company.

This lack of liquidity presents shareholders with a significant investment risk. Investors are forced to commit themselves to the company for the medium to longer term. In contrast to the owners of listed companies, they do not have the option of easily selling their shares when they are in disagreement with the company's strategy or if they believe the company's activities become too risky.

An effective corporate governance framework provides a way of mitigating this risk. It provides shareholders in unlisted companies with some reassurance that, although there is no easy exit from their ownership stake, their interests will continue to be respected and safeguarded by the board and company management. Moreover the governance framework may also induce reflection on a possible exit strategy for those shareholders that feel the necessity to exit the company's share capital partly or completely.

As a result, shareholders are more likely to Rage to mpany in the first place. Furthermore, they will

be more comfortable in their role as patient capital partners, and be a source of support for the company over the longer term.

iii) Building corporate reputation in line with societal expectations

Unlisted companies have to operate within a social context in which there exists growing public scrutiny of corporate behaviour. The governance of companies is an issue of increasing interest for the media and civil society. Furthermore, the public demand for improved corporate accountability and transparency has grown in the wake of the recent financial crisis.

Existing corporate governance codes for listed companies are also raising the profile of corporate governance. In particular, global corporate governance principles (e.g. those of the OECD) and the UK Corporate Governance Code are shaping societal norms of "appropriate" corporate structures, procedures and behaviour.

In assessing whether companies are governing themselves appropriately, public opinion is unlikely to pay much regard to nuances such as whether an enterprise is listed or unlisted. Indeed, unlisted companies may even be viewed with greater suspicion by external observers due to their lower levels of transparency in comparison with publicly-listed entities.

Good governance can play a crucial role in gaining the respect of key external stakeholders – such as actual and potential financiers, employees, customers, and local communities. It effectively provides a "licence to operate", since it offers external stakeholders some assurance that the company is being run in an appropriate and responsible manner, with due regard for the interests of "non-insiders".

When company behaviour does not fulfil the expectations of society, the company may suffer significant consequences. Even if the firm is not breaking any formal laws, it may be operationally affected by the negative perception of employees and consumers. The implementation of a robust governance framework is the main means by which such significant reputational risks can be mitigated.

3) Constructing a governance framework – the key actors

An effective governance framework establishes stable and accepted relationships between shareholders, the board, management, and other stakeholders. In effect, it defines an agreed distribution of power between the main players involved with the firm. This is an essential prerequisite for the effective operation of an enterprise. We consider each of the main actors in turn.

i) Shareholders

There is widespread recognition – both in company law and amongst the business community - that a key objective of a private sector company is to further the interests of its shareholders. According to the Companies Act 2006, the board should act in a way that is most likely to promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members (shareholders) as a whole⁷.

However, in practice, shareholders do not tend to have direct power over the operation of a company. The power of shareholders primarily arises from their ability to appoint, dismiss, and influence the decision-making of the board of directors.

Such powers are defined both by company law (which establishes a baseline of shareholder rights) and the specific contents of a company's constitutional documents, i.e. the articles of association.

In addition, shareholders may enter into agreements amongst themselves. These shareholder agreements may further define the rights and responsibilitie **Page**holders, e.g. relating to the transferability of

7 Companies Act 2006, section 172..

shares or the rights of different categories of shareholding.

Beyond compliance with the law, a governance framework must decide how the shareholder's interaction with the company should be organised. For example:

- How can shareholders call a shareholder meeting?
- How can shareholders table resolutions at a shareholder meeting in order to influence or veto the decision-making of the board, nominate or dismiss individual directors?
- What information should be provided by the company to shareholders?

In addition, a governance framework may wish to highlight the responsibilities as well as the rights of shareholders. A proactive and constructive relationship between shareholders and the board will increase mutual understanding and commitment, both at times of crisis and during normal business conditions.

One of the difficulties faced by shareholders in asserting their interests is that they are not necessarily a homogeneous group. There may be a variety of competing or conflicting objectives. This may be a particular problem in family companies, where some family members are actively involved in the management of the company and others are not.

In such cases, it is important for a governance framework to define accepted relationships between shareholders. This will include procedures by which conflicts can be anticipated and resolved in an effective manner. Also effective procedures for family governance can enhance the long-term success of family-owned companies.

ii) Directors

One of the main shareholder rights is to nominate the directors and define the powers the board of directors is entrusted with. As such, the shareholders ultimately define the overall contours of the governance framework.

According to UK company law, the board of directors is envisaged as the primary decision-making body of the company. It is collectively responsible for all aspects of the company's activities. Notwithstanding the possibility for shareholders to limit the power of the board, its broad responsibilities are:

- to establish and maintain the company's vision, mission, and values.
- to establish its structure, strategy, and risk profile.
- to delegate authority to management, and to monitor and evaluate its implementation of policies, strategies, and operational plans.
- to account to and be responsible to shareholders and other stakeholders.

A governance framework will formally establish the board's specific responsibilities. It will define the board's structure, size, and composition, and the process by which directors are appointed to the board.

The organisation and logistics of board meetings are important aspects of the governance framework. Key issues include the role of the chairman, the frequency of board meetings, the management of the board's agenda, the nature of the information provided to directors, the taking of minutes, the nature and style of boardroom discussions and decision-making, and the role of the company secretary.

The governance framework should also determine if the board should delegate specific board responsibilities to committees, e.g. an audit, nomination or remuneration committee.

People as well as organisational structures are essential to effective governance. Consequently, a governance framework will establish ways of identifying potential management and board-level talent, and ensure that directors understand their lega geal 52 onsibilities as company directors (including their personal liabilities).

Directors' legal duties

UK company law defines a number of general legal duties for directors of UK companies. These include the following⁸:

The duty to act within powers

Directors must act in accordance with the company's constitution (i.e. the articles of association and resolutions of general meetings), and only exercise powers for the purposes for which they are conferred.

The duty to promote the success of the company

Directors must act in a way which they consider, in good faith, will promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members (shareholders) as a whole, having regard to:

- (a) the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;
- (b) the interests of the company's employees;
- (c) the need to foster the company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;
- (d) the impact of the company's operations on the community and the environment;
- (e) the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct;
- (f) the need to act fairly as between members of the company.

The duty to exercise independent judgement

Each director must exercise independent judgment in his or her decision making.

The duty to exercise reasonable care, skill, and diligence

Directors must exercise reasonable care, skill and diligence in their duties. The meaning of 'reasonable care, skill and diligence' is judged according to what may reasonably be expected of a person carrying out the functions of director of that company. It is also judged according to the general knowledge, skill and experience of the individual director.

The duty to avoid conflicts of interest

Directors must avoid situations in which they could have a direct or indirect interest that conflicts with the interests of the company. This applies in particular to the exploitation of any property, information or opportunity (regardless of whether the company could take advantage of that property, information or opportunity). However, this duty is not infringed if the matter has been authorised by the board.

The duty not to accept benefits from third parties

Directors must not accept benefits from third parties unless the benefit cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a conflict of interest.

The duty to declare interest in proposed transaction or arrangement

If a director has a personal interest, direct or indirect, in a proposed transaction or arrangement with the company, he or she must declare the nature and extent of that interest to the other directors before the transaction or arrangement takes place.

iii) Management

Management has the greatest capacity to determine the success or failure of the enterprise. Although managers are not the firm's key decision-makers, they are responsible for running the firm on a day-to-day basis. In that role, they need to be granted executive power to expression over the operation of the firm.

⁸ Directors' general duties are defined in sections 170-177 of the Companies Act 2006.

A key aspect of the governance framework is to establish an appropriate level of executive power to delegate to management. If too little power is granted – and a manager's freedom of action is excessively constrained – the company is likely to become inflexible. Management may be unable to implement the board's strategy. However, with too much power, the risk exists that management will lose touch with the interests of the board and shareholders, and pursue its own agenda.

The governance framework must also work to align the incentives of management with shareholders and other stakeholders. The remuneration policy and contractual conditions with respect to the most senior managers, e.g. the managing director or CEO, are particularly important in that respect. Top management succession is also an important issue that should be addressed by the governance framework.

iv) Stakeholders

The role and impact of other company stakeholders – such as employees, financiers, suppliers, local communities, and government – varies considerably across companies, sectors and countries. UK companies have fewer formal obligations to include stakeholders in their governance framework than some other European countries⁹. However, UK company law does require the board to have regard to the interests of the company's employees, suppliers, and customers in its decision making, and to think about the impact of the company's operations on the community and the environment¹⁰.

However, regardless of legal obligations, the governance framework should always take into account the interests of stakeholders. The risks to the firm – reputational and otherwise – of insufficiently incorporating the stakeholder perspective into governance arrangements could be considerable. Consequently, it is important to consider ways of establishing dialogue and constructive engagement with relevant stakeholders.

4) Foundations of good governance - key concepts

The design of a credible framework of governance involves the linkage of the key corporate governance actors with a number of widely-accepted principles of good governance.

i) Delegation of authority

In any company, the origin of authority is ownership. However, the company may soon reach a point in its development where the main shareholder is no longer able to simultaneously fulfil the roles of shareholder, lead director, and manager. At that point, it becomes necessary to reflect on the most effective way to delegate authority from the owner to the board and the management.

The articles of association (or equivalent constitutional document) and shareholder resolutions exist to formalise the rights of shareholders.

The owner and/or the board should develop a systematic approach towards the delegation of authority and formalise this in writing. A schedule of matters reserved for the board and for executive management should be established, which sets out the parameters of the delegated authority (with attention for any financial thresholds regarding decision-making powers).

Delegated authorities should be reviewed periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate given the structure, size, scope, and complexity of the firm.

ii) Checks and balances

A basic principle of good governance is that no one individual should have unfettered power over decisionmaking. There should exist "checks and bapes" that subject the actions of individuals to scrutiny, while the most important decisions should be taken on a collective basis.

Fulfilling this principle is often a challenge for owner-managed companies, which are normally established on the basis of the autocratic control of a single individual (or small group of individuals). However, while such a governance approach may be viable in the early stages of a company's development, it is not a sustainable model for the longer term. Building the right checks and balances is therefore a delicate exercise for any developing company and will probably necessitate a "phased" or step-wise approach to align governance needs with the founder/owner's willingness to accept external control.

Aside from the practical difficulties involved in a single person making all the decisions, a lack of appropriate checks and balance exposes the enterprise to human weakness. Even the most capable of individuals can sometimes make mistakes or lose their ability to analyse issues in an objective manner.

To minimise these risks, it is important to establish governance procedures that subject all decisionmaking to some kind of third-party scrutiny. There should also be clear lines of accountability with the firm – each corporate actor (whether an employee, manager, or director) should justify their actions to someone else. Corporate transparency is also an effective means of encouraging appropriate behaviour (see below).

Specific examples of checks and balances within the corporate structure include splitting the role of leading executive management (chief executive) from that of chairman of the board, the utilisation of a "four eyes" principle when signing contracts or making important commitments on behalf of the firm, the obligation to have an external auditor, and the involvement of independent directors on the board.

iii) Professional decision-making

The focus of collective decision-making in most companies is the board of directors. However, directing an organisation through a board is more difficult than is commonly supposed. Simply placing competent people of goodwill around a boardroom table will not necessarily result in an effectively functioning board. Building an effective board takes time and patience on the part of board members, and benefits from a professional approach to boardroom procedure.

The chairman has a particular responsibility in welding a group of capable individuals into an effective board team. The chairman has to find a way to reach a consensus between diverging views on the company and its future. An atmosphere of open discussion should be encouraged. Perspectives and viewpoints should be properly documented in the minutes, allowing dissenting voices to be recorded. There should also be a clear formulation of decisions, so that the decision-making process is followed by decisive action.

It is also important to ensure that due care is taken over the choice of board members, and that board members have the necessary skills and competencies to fulfil their responsibilities. Directors will need to undertake specialised professional training if they are to effectively make the transition from operational manager (with a focus on one aspect of a firm's activities) to company director (where they must exercise oversight over the firm as a whole).

iv) Accountability

Within a company, there should be a hierarchy of accountability. Each level in the hierarchy is granted defined responsibilities and powers. However, these powers must be associated with meaningful accountability regarding performance and the exercise of powers.

The accountability hierarchy begins at the bottom of the pyramid, with each superior level monitoring and supervising the level below it. Employees are accountable to managers, who themselves report into the board of directors. Finally, the board of directors directors and other external stakeholders (including government agencies and regulators).

For accountability to exert an effect over behaviour, it is important that each employee, manager, and board member understands expectations about the nature and scope of his or her responsibilities. As the company expands in size and complexity, this will require formalisation in the form of explicit business conduct rules (including ethical principles). At the board level, directors should clarify their responsibilities by defining corporate governance principles for the firm, which should be regularly reviewed and updated.

Once responsibilities have been defined, the efficient functioning of the system depends on proper oversight. However, this will only be possible if there exists relevant information with which to evaluate behaviour and performance.

For this reason, an appropriate framework of reporting and control is an important aspect of good governance. Senior managers, directors, shareholders, and other stakeholders need reliable and understandable information with which to evaluate performance. In most cases, such reporting will be undertaken by both internal departments (e.g. management accounting reporting and internal audit) and external intermediaries (e.g. the external auditors).

v) Transparency

Transparency regarding the firm's activities can be highly effective in encouraging high standards of behaviour. Directors, managers, and employees are likely to give greater thought to their conduct if they perceive that they are being observed. This perspective is summarised by the maxim that "sunlight is the best of all disinfectants".

A certain level of transparency in the firm's activities may be mandated by law and regulation (e.g. publication and audit of financial statements). The nature of such statutory transparency is likely to be relatively tightly defined. However, unlisted companies may choose to voluntarily disclose more information than required by law as a means of gaining the confidence and commitment of external stakeholders.

Given the fact that unlisted companies are often labelled as "closed" companies, the case for greater external transparency will need to be made to a possibly sceptical company owner/founder. Rather than making sudden changes, an appropriate strategy may involve increasing company transparency via a stepwise approach towards greater openness.

A key stage in opening up the company to external scrutiny is taken by the appointment of independent (non-executive) directors. This signals a firm's willingness to become more open and accountable in respect of its decision-making and performance assessment. The replacing of the owner-manager or founding entrepreneur by external managers can also be perceived as an important step in this direction.

At some stage, the unlisted company must make choices about the extent of its disclosure to external stakeholders. This is important if the company is seeking external capital or contemplating a future listing. But it may also be crucial for building reputational capital.

Greater transparency is beneficial in establishing the legitimacy of the company as a responsible enterprise in society. Increasingly, civil society views organisations that lack transparency with suspicion. The baseline assumption in the mind of the public is that opaque organisations have something to hide. This is a societal attitude that unlisted companies cannot afford to ignore, even if their regulatory obligations vis-à-vis transparency are less substantial than those of listed companies.

vi) Conflicts of interest

An important principle of company law is that directors have a duty to promote the success of the company as a whole. They are specifically provide the directing the activities of the company in favour of themselves or particular shareholders and/or stakeholders.

Even in owner-managed firms, the authority of an individual to manage the firm derives from his or her status as a director. The company should not be regarded as an extension of the personal property of the owner. Although shareholders have legally-defined economic entitlements (e.g. to dividends) and powers vis-à-vis the board (e.g. to appoint and remove directors), it is directors – not shareholders – that are charged with directing the affairs of the company. And this must be undertaken in the interests of the company as a whole.

This principle may be difficult for owner-managers or large shareholders of unlisted enterprises to accept or understand. They may view the firm's interests as synonymous with their own. This may lead to a selfinterested bias in their decision-making. At worst, it could lead them to seek ways of expropriating the assets of the firm at the expense of minority shareholders or stakeholders.

Some examples of where conflict of interest situations may arise include the following:

- The firm undertakes business transactions with enterprises controlled or managed by its shareholders, leading to a potential conflict of interest between the firm and its shareholders.
- A manager or director has a personal interest in the adoption of a particular corporate strategy or policy (e.g. his or her own remuneration or the sale of company property to related family shareholders), which leads him or her to be less than objective in decision-making.
- Directors or shareholders encourage the firm to undertake activities that benefit specific shareholders (e.g. relating to dividend policy, or requiring a subsidiary company to provide special guarantees or loans to a mother or another group company) or stakeholders with which they have a strong personal association (the promotion of a family employee or decisions on succession planning).

Conflicts of interest have the potential to undermine the governance of the company. Good governance demands that the company is being steered by the board in an objective manner, and not as a means of promoting specific personal interests or enriching a specific constituency.

Consequently, a robust governance framework needs to define credible mechanisms by which potential conflict of interest issues can be managed or resolved. Directors should always declare potential conflicts of interest to the rest of the board, abstain from influencing the decision and be prepared to leave the board entirely in cases where such conflicts are structural and could eventually become detrimental to the success of the company.

vii) Aligning incentives

The incentives of directors and employees are primarily (although not entirely) shaped by the firm's remuneration policy. Remuneration is an issue that frequently attracts the attention of the media. Indeed, an impression may be gained from the public discourse that corporate governance is almost entirely about remuneration, which is of course a gross distortion.

Unlisted companies benefit from the fact that they are not subject to the same degree of public scrutiny and mandatory transparency regarding remuneration as publicly listed companies. However, unlisted companies have an equal need to ensure that remuneration policy is incentivising behaviour from directors, managers and employees in a way that is consistent with the long-term interests of the enterprise.

Furthermore, a credible and transparent remuneration policy can help win the commitment and loyalty of company stakeholders (e.g. employees, suppliers, providers of finance, the media, and the local community) to the company's objectives.

Some important issues of remuneration policy include the following:

• What are the relevant benchmarks and performance ristra in the remuneration process?

- Who makes the decisions about remuneration?
- How much information regarding remuneration issues should be disclosed?

5) The challenge of implementation

The implementation of sound corporate governance principles is not necessarily easy. It may involve a significant change in the way that companies operate and a shift in the distribution of power in relation to corporate decision-making.

For example, the necessary steps may involve the inclusion of external parties in important decisions, establishing meaningful chains of accountability, and the communication and reporting of activities to stakeholders. Such steps may be viewed with suspicion by the original owner-manager or founding-entrepreneur.

Furthermore, improved governance is likely to be associated with the increased formalisation of company processes and procedures. Many small and medium-sized companies may see this as imposing an unnecessary bureaucratic burden on their enterprises.

Consequently, there exist important prerequisites for the implementation of a corporate governance framework:

- The firm's key decision-makers normally the shareholders or the owner-manager must themselves be convinced of the need to implement a robust governance framework. The commitment of these parties is essential in order to make governance work.
- Although the governance framework should pay due regard to best practice principles, it should also be implemented in a manner that is both proportionate and realistic. Corporate governance is not an end in itself, but a means of adding value and providing continuity. Given the diversity amongst unlisted firms, corporate governance principles should be applied in a pragmatic and flexible manner, with regard to the individual circumstances of each company.

The implementation of a corporate governance framework should also take account of the firm's objectives concerning its own development. A corporation will generally develop a new governance structure and approach in anticipation of its next major strategic move or phase in development or financing structure (e.g. before succession takes place in a family firm, before attracting external capital, etc.). Such a change in governance will indicate its readiness to take the next step in its evolution.

Events in the company's life cycle that may trigger a change in governance approach include the following:

- Changes in the relationship between shareholders, the board and management. This may be triggered by the desire of the founder entrepreneur or family owners to withdraw from the day-to-day management of the company, and hand over executive responsibilities to professional managers. A special trigger of governance change may be the decision to nominate the first independent non-executive director on the board.
- Expansion of the shareholder base by attracting additional internal (family, group) shareholders. This may trigger important challenges for the sole owner (e.g. the founder).
- Change in the capital and shareholding structure, due to a desire to attract external financing. This will involve dilution in the ownership concentration of existing owners, and the entry into the company ownership of external shareholders.
- Increasing complexity in the firm's business environment, and its risk profile.

The principles of best practice presented in the next section of this briefing are voluntary recommendations, leaving the companies the freedom to decide on the way in which they should be implemented in practice. Companies have the latitude to decide on the pace and depth of their governance implementation process.

The principles do not stipulate any form of obligatory disclosure or an application of the comply-orexplain principle¹¹. According to the OECD¹², an excessively formal approach in the case of unlisted companies would have adverse implications for costs and flexibility. Consequently the principles should not be viewed as a corporate governance code, but rather as a set of proposals aimed at increasing the professionalism and effectiveness of unlisted companies.

Once a choice is made regarding an appropriate governance framework, it should be implemented with a high level of discipline and consistency. The credibility of the firm in the eyes of its various shareholders and stakeholders (e.g. employees, creditors, suppliers, customers) will be affected by the manner of its implementation. Furthermore, good governance requires more than the implementation of formal rules and processes. Equally important is the right governance attitude, which applies the spirit of key governance principles throughout the organisation.

If a new corporate governance framework is perceived to be just window dressing, it will deliver few of the potential benefits of good corporate governance.

12 OECD (2006), page 14.

¹¹ The comply-or-explain principle underpins the application of the UK Corporate Governance Code to listed companies with a premium listing on the London Stock Exchange. According to this principle, a company must either comply with the provisions of the code or explain its reason for not complying in its annual report.

Part II: Principles of corporate governance for unlisted companies in the UK

The IoD and ecoDa governance principles – a phased approach

Reflecting the diversity of unlisted companies, fourteen governance principles are presented on the basis of a dynamic stepwise process. This approach takes into account the specific nature of a company in terms of size, complexity, and maturity. Two categories of corporate governance principles are proposed.

Phase 1 principles (principles 1-9) apply to all kinds of unlisted companies, regardless of size or level of complexity. Such principles are viewed as broadly universal in their application, and do not necessarily require the creation of bureaucratic or costly governance procedures. They represent a core framework of basic governance principles that can be implemented in some form by all unlisted companies.

It should be recognised, however, that even the application of the first phase principles will probably necessitate a stepwise approach. As has already been highlighted, the introduction of basic governance principles, such as external transparency, checks and balances, and external control, is a delicate exercise in an owner-managed firm, or in any company with a sole owner or decision-maker. Owners need to be convinced that the application of such principles will bring a substantial return and foster the long-term success of their firm.

Phase 2 principles (principles 10-14) are more sophisticated corporate governance measures that are relevant to larger or more complex unlisted companies, or enterprises with significant external financing. They should also be considered by unlisted companies that are seeking to prepare themselves for a future public listing.

The most important of the phase 2 principles is the decision to invite independent directors onto the board. This is a landmark event in the evolution of an unlisted company. It normally signals an irreversible step towards good governance and is likely to exert an immediate effect over the culture of boardroom behaviour. The implementation of phase 2 principles is likely to increase the formality of governance arrangements. However, this is invariably a necessary step in larger or more complex enterprises in order to provide the necessary reassurance to owners or external creditors regarding the longer-term sustainability of the enterprise.

In short, the IoD and ecoDa principles offer a phased approach to corporate governance, both in terms of the way in which individual principles are implemented and in the transition from the phase 1 to the phase 2 principles. This provides a governance roadmap for family owners or founder-entrepreneurs as they plan the development of their companies over the corporate life cycle.

After a statement of each of the governance principles, a number of key points are listed. The application of these points is likely to underpin the implementation of each governance principle. This is followed by a discussion of the practical issues that are likely to be of interest to unlisted companies of differing sizes and levels of complexity in addressing each of the principles.

It must be stressed that the objective of the principles is to provide insight for unlisted companies in the design of a governance framework. They are not intended to be a straitjacket. Unlisted companies should exercise common sense in their implementation, and ensure that their response is both proportionate and tailored to the specific needs of their organized 60

Phase 1 principles - applicable to all unlisted companies

Principle 1: Shareholders should establish an appropriate constitutional and governance framework for the company.

Key points

- Shareholders should establish a basic framework of corporate governance through the company's constitutional documents (i.e. the articles of association).
- There should be a formal schedule which states which matters are specifically reserved for the shareholders' decision and which are to be delegated to the board (see principle 2).
- However, shareholders should minimise the extent to which the articles constrain the ability of the board to shape the detailed governance framework.

Practical considerations for unlisted companies

The company's constitutional documents define the "rules of the game" with respect to many aspects of a company's corporate and internal governance. They can be used to establish company rules relating to matters such as the issuance of shares, the different voting and dividend rights attached to different classes of shares, restrictions on the transfer of shares, the powers, role and conduct of board and shareholder meetings, and the appointment and remuneration of directors (see also principle 2).

The articles essentially represent a contract between the company and its owners. They bind the way in which directors can subsequently exercise power over the company. A director that ignores the constraints defined by the articles is at risk of acting ultra vires ("beyond powers") and may be subject to legal sanction.

The detailed content of company articles is often given little attention by owner-managers in the early stages of a company. In many instances, company founders rely on so-called "model articles" that are published by the Registrar of Companies (Companies House).

However, prior to further development of corporate governance, it is important for shareholders to consider if the existing constitutional framework is in the long-term interests of the company and adapted to its specific needs.

In particular, shareholders should avoid embedding too much detail on governance procedures in the articles of association. The articles are an inflexible means of establishing a governance framework. According to UK company law, they can only be changed via a special resolution of shareholders. Consequently, they impose severe constraints on the ability of the board of directors to tailor the governance framework to the changing needs of the company.

Shareholders should recognise that the board is the primary decision-making body of the company. This role should not be undermined by an excessively prescriptive approach to governance in the articles of association.

However, in some unlisted companies, there may be governance issues which are of significant personal concern to the founding-entrepreneur or existing shareholders, e.g. concerning the transferability of shares or succession issue procedures. A constitutional framework which safeguards the interests of the owners in these areas is likely to be an important prerequisite for further development of the governance framework.

Investors in unlisted companies take – in many respects – a bigger investment risk than investors in listed enterprises. The illiquidity of their shareholdings may require them to commit to the company for a relatively long period of time. A constitutional framework that protects their long-term interests is likely to be an important determinant of their willingness **Pagen64** company.

Shareholders may also wish to ensure that their specific interests are guaranteed in relation to the interests of other shareholders. Company owners may have diverging aspirations for the company. In a relatively widely-held family company, for example, it is almost inevitable that such differing objectives will come into conflict at some point.

The constitutional framework offers a way of defining relationships and conflict-resolution procedures between shareholders. This will help to ensure stability over the longer term.

In contrast to the articles of association, shareholder agreements are contractual agreements between shareholders of the company. In some circumstances, shareholder agreements may be seen as a more flexible and effective means of safeguarding shareholder rights than the company's articles of association.

However, unlike the articles – which are publicly accessible documents – shareholder agreements lack transparency (they are confidential agreements between private parties), and there may exist uncertainty over their enforceability. Consequently, over time, shareholders should seek to move away from shareholder agreements as a means of safeguarding their essential interests.

When undertaking changes to articles of association or shareholder agreements, shareholders should seek the guidance of qualified legal counsel in order to ensure that any proposed changes are in accordance with relevant company law.

Principle 2: Every company should strive to establish an effective board, which is collectively responsible for the long-term success of the company, including the definition of the corporate strategy. However, an interim step on the road to an effective (and independent) board may be the creation of an advisory board.

Key points

- The board's role is to provide leadership of the company.
- As an intermediate step on the road to an effective main board, small unlisted companies may consider the establishment of an additional advisory board, without formal decision-making responsibilities.
- All directors must take decisions objectively in the interest of the company. As the company develops, inviting an independent director onto the board can help in focusing the board on the corporate interest.
- The board should elect a chairman. The chairman is responsible for leadership of the board, ensuring its effectiveness on all aspects of its role and setting its agenda.
- The board should appoint a Chief Executive (or managing director) to lead the management team, and exercise executive authority over the operation of the company.
- The board should set the company's strategic objectives, and ensure that the necessary financial and human resources are in place for the company to meet its objectives.
- The board is responsible for monitoring and evaluating management performance.
- The board should set the company's values and standards and ensure that its obligations to its shareholders and other stakeholders are understood and met. The board should be involved in the strategic development process and as a minimum approve the strategy, and ensure that it lies within the framework of shareholders' expectations.
- It is the responsibility of the board to ensure that the company complies with its articles of association as well as relevant legal, regulatory, and reversance requirements.

- There should be a formal schedule of matters which states which matters are specifically reserved for the board's decision and which are to be delegated to management.
- Where directors have concerns which cannot be resolved about the running of the company or a proposed action, they should ensure that their concerns are recorded in the board minutes.

Practical considerations for unlisted companies

In many smaller unlisted companies, the distinction between the members of the governance tripod of board, management, and shareholders is often unclear. An owner-manager may fulfil all or several of these roles.

Nonetheless, it is important to recognise the unique role that the board plays in the leadership of the company. It has overall responsibility for the company's activities.

At an early stage of a company's development, it may be appropriate to operate many aspects of the board's activities in a relatively informal and non-bureaucratic manner.

An interim step on the road to a more independent board is the creation of an (additional) advisory board. In contrast to the main board, such a body lies outside the formal governance structure of the firm. As a result, the decision-making powers of the owner-manager or controlling family on the main board remain undiluted. However, the advisory group helps improve the board's capabilities in terms of expertise and business contacts (see principle 3). Over time, members of the advisory group can be invited to join the main board as directors.

As the company grows in size and complexity, so should the board. Conversely, the advisory board should diminish in importance. An advisory group cannot exercise proper monitoring and oversight over the company. Unlike a formal board, it has no right to obtain information and cannot exercise significant influence over company strategy. In addition, it cannot be held legally liable for the firm's activities (except in those cases in which it can be proved to be acting as a "shadow director" of the company).

Consequently, the formalisation of board and governance processes should increase in tandem with the size and complexity of the company, and the extent of its reliance on external sources of finance.

As the company develops further, external and independent directors can play a crucial role on the route to a professional governance framework. Introducing independent directors is a key step in the development of unlisted company governance (see also principle 11). The decision to invite external independent directors onto the board forms part of a professionalisation process. Its potential effect on boardroom behaviour and culture should not be underestimated.

At a relatively early stage, written statements should be developed to help the board clarify its objectives and strategy, and ensure that all concerned parties understand what is expected of them.

A statement of the company's strategy as defined by the board – supported by a business plan prepared by the management and approved by the board – is a basic necessity. Over time, the board should also seek to develop a company manual that documents all company policies and procedures, e.g. in relation to health and safety policy, legal and regulatory obligations, staff and procurement policies, etc.

Board statements should define the board's responsibilities, reserved matters and delegated authorities. However, given its positioning as an intermediate corporate organ between shareholders and management, the duties of the board are often defined in a "residual" manner, i.e. board duties exclude all rights and duties reserved to the shareholders (meeting) or delegated to management.

Within the framework set by the shareholders, the board defines its own responsibilities, and on the duties and responsibilities it wants to delegate to management. Although the detailed definition of those specific duties will differ substantially between individual compares, some general frameworks can be described.

A schedule of matters reserved for shareholders (possibly at a shareholders' meeting), would typically include the following:

- Approval of the annual accounts
- Deciding on the dividend
- Approval of changes to the articles of association/ and/or changes to capital structure
- Appointment, remuneration, and dismissal of directors.

A schedule of matters potentially reserved for the board would typically include the following:

- Definition of corporate goals, strategy, and structure
- Responding to shareholders and third parties
- Supervising and controlling company progress
- Supervising the Chief Executive or managing director
- Approval of corporate plans
- Approval of operating and capital budgets
- Approval of major corporate actions (e.g. acquisitions, disposals, commencing or terminating of business activities)
- Approval of financial statements
- Approval of borrowings or creditor guarantees (possibly above a certain amount)
- · Policy on external communications, e.g. with regulators, shareholders, or the media
- Definition of authorities delegated to management
- Nomination and dismissal of the managing director/CEO, and on his/her remuneration (possibly also of other top management, in consultation with the CEO).

A schedule of powers delegated to management is likely to cover the following areas:

- Preparing strategic proposals, corporate plans, and budgets
- Executing the strategy agreed upon by the board of directors
- Executing actions in relation to board decisions on investments, mergers, and acquisitions, etc.
- Opening bank accounts and authorising financial payments
- Signing of contracts
- Signing of regulatory documents
- Powers of attorney
- External communication
- Staff recruitment and remuneration
- Establishing a system of internal control and risk management
- Health and safety operations.



It is best practice to summarise such a schedule of delegation in a delegation policy document, a Board Charter, or an internal governance code, specifying the limits for each of the delegated matters.

The balance between matters reserved for the board and matters delegated to management should be kept under regular review, particularly in a rapidly growing company. Owner-managers need to develop an effective approach to delegation, and learn to spread decision-making powers to other directors and managers.

Boards should maintain a compliance schedule, which shows when various financial, legal, and regulatory requirements must be completed, and who is responsible for dealing with each item. Such a schedule is likely to include:

- · obligations relating to the preparation and filing of financial statements
- tax compliance
- banking facilities and covenants
- health and safety compliance
- insurance

Small unlisted companies may wish to appoint an external party, e.g. a lawyer, accountant, or provider of company secretarial services, to ensure that the board fulfils its statutory obligations. In addition, it may be prudent to grant power of attorney to an external adviser to act when directors are unavailable or in an emergency.

As the company expands, it may be appropriate to appoint an in-house company secretary to fulfil these requirements.

It should always be remembered, however, that the ultimate responsibility for fulfilling the company's regulatory obligations lies with the board as a whole.

A key responsibility of the board is to promote high standards of professional and ethical conduct amongst employees. As the number of employees expands, the standards expected should be summarised in a code of business conduct. This should be discussed with employees during induction and training periods. It also acts as a benchmark for evaluation during disciplinary proceedings.

The internal code could state the company's expectations with respect to:

- compliance with laws and regulations
- standards of customer service
- conflicts of interest
- gifts or preferential treatment in respect of suppliers, customers, etc
- the need for integrity and ethical business practice
- company obligations to the general well-being of the community
- support for employee personal development.

Principle 3: The size and composition of the board should reflect the scale and complexity of the company's activities.

Key points

• The board should not be so large as to be unwieldy. The balance of skills and experience should be appropriate for the requirements of the business. Changes to the board's composition should be manageable without undue disruption.

- There should be an explicit procedure for the appointment of new directors to the board. Appointments to the board should be made after careful examination against objective criteria.
- The board should satisfy itself that plans are in place for orderly succession for appointments to the board and to senior management. The aim is to maintain an appropriate balance of skills and experience within the company and on the board.
- The period of appointment of directors should be carefully considered. The board should balance the flexibility of open-ended appointments against the need to ensure planned and progressive refreshing of the board.

Practical considerations for unlisted companies

During the early years of the company's existence, owner-managers may be uncomfortable about inviting outsiders onto the board. They may not yet be ready to share sensitive company information and decision-making powers with external persons. Hence the board often consists of owner-managers' colleagues, family members, or close friends.

However, this may result in the board lacking expertise in a number of key strategic areas, e.g. relating to strategy analysis, marketing, finance, human resources management, or international trade. As a result, it may make sense to create an additional advisory board, which can fill the expertise gaps in these areas (see principle 2).

An advisory board should only be regarded as an interim step. Over time, non-executives should be added to the main board. Providers of external finance are also likely to insist on non-executive directors joining the board (see principle 12).

As the company grows, more focus will be placed on the board, which is the key decision-making body of the company. As the success of the company will depend more and more on the board, it is in the owner-manager's interest to get the best possible people onto the board.

The boards of UK companies typically consist of both non-executive directors (some of which may be independent), and executive directors (who combine their board role with a senior managerial position). Such a board structure is known as a one-tier or unitary board.

The UK's unitary board contrasts with the two-tier board which is utilised in several European countries (e.g. Germany, the Netherlands). According to the latter approach, there are two board structures. The highest decision-making body is only composed of non-executive directors and referred to as the supervisory board. This oversees the executive board (which is responsible for execution and operational matters).

Regardless of nationally-defined structures, the ability of any form of committee to make decisions and exercise proper scrutiny becomes increasingly difficult at sizes in excess of 10-12 members. A smaller board size will improve the quality of communication and is likely to result in more focused discussions. They will also make board meetings easier to organise.

In an owner-managed company, it is likely that a single person will initially fulfil the roles of both chairman and chief executive (or managing director). A separate independent chairman may not be commercially justifiable. However, the person holding both roles should remember that the responsibilities of chairman and CEO are distinct, and should be viewed separately.

Succession planning is a particularly important issue in owner-managed companies. The owner needs to consider if the ultimate objective is to pass on the business to younger family members or to seek an exit from the business through a public listing or trade sale. Answers to these questions will influence decisions regarding the appropriate composition of the board.



Boards should comprise people with different perspectives, backgrounds, and experience. Board renewal is important to ensure a flow of new ideas.

Service on too many boards can interfere with the performance of board members. Companies should consider whether multiple board memberships by the same person are compatible with effective board performance.

It is important that members of the board enjoy legitimacy and confidence in the eyes of shareholders. Transparency towards shareholders is therefore important in any company. Extra services to the company, undertaken on behalf of the board – and the associated remuneration – should be disclosed to shareholders.

Principle 4: The board should meet sufficiently regularly to discharge its duties, and be supplied in a timely manner with appropriate information.

Key points

- Consideration should be given to the appropriate organisation of board meetings.
- The chairman is responsible for ensuring that the directors receive accurate, timely, and clear information.
- Management has an obligation to provide such information. However, directors should seek clarification or amplification from management where necessary. The board should establish explicit procedures which allow directors to approach management for further information.
- The board should ensure that directors especially non-executive directors have access to independent professional advice at the company's expense where they judge it necessary to discharge their responsibilities as directors.

Practical considerations for unlisted companies

Given the specific leadership role of the board, it is important to distinguish board meetings from management meetings, even in owner-managed enterprises.

Too many board meetings may result in the board becoming too operational. On the other hand, too few meetings may pose problems for the fulfilment of the board's duties. Therefore sufficient attention should be given to the appropriate number of board meetings.

Smaller companies will typically have four to eight board meetings per annum, possibly including a full-day strategic board meeting. However, the exact number of meetings required by the board to fulfil it responsibilities will depend on the specific needs of the company.

Board meeting dates should be "fixed in stone" as far as possible. Frequent date changes can lead to poor attendance by non-executive directors.

The chairman should ensure that board meetings are run efficiently and should consider developing board guidelines with respect to meeting procedures and agenda-setting. A typical structure for board meetings is as follows:

- An agenda should be prepared by the chairman.
- The agenda and supporting papers (if any) should be circulated in advance of the meeting, allowing directors sufficient time to prepare.
- Written minutes of board meetings should be taken. All decisions should be recorded (including dissenting opinions), along with assigned tasks and timescales. The minutes should also give an overview of the main topics discussed at the meeting.
- Board meetings should monitor progress again the prove of the prove

As well as promoting better decision-making, a track record of properly documented board meetings is an important indicator of professionalism. Furthermore it is an important legal safeguard for directors, and may assist smaller companies in obtaining external financing at a later stage.

Board members require relevant information on a timely basis in order to support their decision-making. However, a principal concern of many boards is not to increase the quantity of the information that they receive. Rather, it is to increase the quality. Information needs to be summarised and formatted in a manner that makes it accessible and useful for directors.

It is the board's responsibility to decide what information it wants. However, an informational tool that is widely used by boards is the "balanced scorecard". This goes beyond financial measures of performance, and also tracks success according to a range of quantitative and qualitative criteria. It may include measures of customer satisfaction, indicators of training and professional development amongst employees, and qualitative indicators of progress on business processes, e.g. major projects or compliance with health and safety standards.

Directors may wish to supplement the information they receive from management with information from other channels, such as departmental visits, with or without the chief executive present, and reports prepared by external think-tanks, academics, or regulatory bodies. However, the search for additional information should be undertaken after consultation with the chairman of the board and the CEO.

Principle 5: Levels of remuneration should be sufficient to attract, retain, and motivate executives and non-executives of the quality required to run the company successfully.

Key points

- A clear distinction must be made between the remuneration of executives and non-executives. The former are full-time employees of the company, and are responsible for its operational activities. In contrast, non-executives are "office holders" rather than company employees, and dedicate their time to the company on a part-time basis. Remuneration structure should reflect these differing roles.
- Members of the board are ultimately accountable to shareholders for their remuneration. However, in practice, many boards will themselves define and propose to the shareholders' meeting any change in their annual remuneration.
- Levels of remuneration for non-executive directors should reflect the time commitment and responsibilities of the role.
- Caution should be exercised when linking non-executive remuneration to company performance.
- The board should develop a formal executive remuneration policy and a transparent procedure for implementing the policy, e.g. in terms of fixing the remuneration packages of individual executives and non-executives.
- No one should be involved in deciding on his or her own remuneration.
- Boards should compare the remuneration of their executives and non-executives with that of other relevant companies. But they should use such comparisons with caution, in view of the risk of an upward ratchet of remuneration levels with no corresponding improvement in performance.
- Boards should be sensitive to pay and employment conditions elsewhere in the company, especially when determining annual salary increases.
- A significant proportion of executive repuperation bould be structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual performance. They hould be designed to align their interests with those of

shareholders and other key stakeholders, and give these executives incentives to perform at the highest levels.

• The board should consider the financial implications of early termination of executives' terms of office. In addition, careful thought should be given to notice or contract periods. The aim should be to avoid rewarding poor performance.

Practical considerations for unlisted companies

Although board remuneration is ultimately a matter for shareholders, initial responsibility over this area is often delegated to the board (through the firm's articles of association, although board decisions may still require approval from shareholders).

In contrast to executives, non-executive directors are normally remunerated on a fixed-fee basis. This is to ensure that non-executives retain an objective and independent perspective on the activities of the company. For this reason, share options would not normally form part of a non-executive's remuneration framework.

Shareholders and boards may consider the rewarding of non-executives through stock. However, although stock ownership may increase the alignment of directors' interests with those of shareholders, the board should be aware that equity holdings may affect external perceptions of independence (see principle 11). The compatibility of stock-based remuneration with non-executive duties is ultimately a matter for shareholders.

Although care should be exercised in linking non-executive remuneration to performance, there should exist a relationship between compensation and the attention and effort required of the individual director. Directors should receive higher remuneration for a greater time commitment, e.g. arising from participation on board committees.

The board should ensure that executive remuneration (particularly that of the chief executive) is reasonable and aligned with the performance of the company. The performance of the company should be measured not only in terms of the achievement of short-term financial targets, but also on the basis of a qualitative assessment of the extent to which a company is fulfilling its longer-term objectives.

In an increasing number of companies, boards develop and disclose a remuneration policy statement covering board members and key executives. Such policy statements specify the relationship between remuneration and performance, and include criteria that emphasise the longer-run interests of the organisation over short-term considerations.

For some unlisted companies this external transparency may initially be a bridge too far, but open governance information can be a step on the road to a higher degree of professionalism and transparency (certainly for Phase II companies).

Good practice in executive remuneration is likely to consider the following elements in its design:

- A balance between fixed and variable pay, and the linkage of variable pay to pre-determined performance criteria
- Deferment of some proportion of variable pay
- In cases where shares are granted, a minimum vesting period. A requirement to retain some proportion of those shares until the conclusion of employment
- The reclaim of variable pay paid on the basis of data which subsequently proves to be manifestly misstated ("clawback")
- A limit on severance pay, and non-payment of seasche pay in case of poor performance.

It is important that both executive and non-executive compensation is as transparent and straightforward as possible. It is helpful to canvas what other similar companies pay to ensure that compensation is not out of line, and many boards turn to external experts for this information.

However, boards should exercise caution in their use of remuneration consultants or head-hunters in defining pay levels. In particular, they should pay attention to consultants' potential conflicts of interest (e.g. in advising both executives and non-executives from the same company). The board needs to develop its own pay philosophy, and should avoid just going along with the crowd.

Principle 6: The board is responsible for risk oversight and should maintain a sound system of internal control to safeguard shareholders' investment and the company's assets.

Key points

- The board should attempt to identify the main risks facing the company. It should satisfy itself that all material risks are being appropriately managed.
- The board should establish formal and transparent arrangements for applying financial reporting and internal control principles, and for maintaining an appropriate relationship with the company's auditors.
- The board should periodically assess the need to establish a formal internal control and risk management function. Moreover, a periodic check on the effectiveness of the company's approach towards internal control is necessary. Such review should cover all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk-management systems.

Practical considerations for unlisted companies

Risk is an inherent part of being in business. The elimination of risk is neither a realistic nor a desirable aim. However, risk needs to be managed. The company should not expose itself to risks that it does not understand or which are not relevant to the success of its business.

In an owner-managed business, risk issues are likely to be addressed by the owner in a relatively informal manner. However, it is helpful to document risks where possible, e.g. using a straightforward SWOT (strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, threats) framework or risk mapping, as this will help to focus decision-making and demonstrate that directors have approached risk management with the necessary care and diligence. Not only financial risks have to be taken into account but also operational and strategic risks.

It is useful for companies to develop a basic risk register, which is reviewed by the board on a regular basis. This will contain the following categories of information:

- A description of the main risks facing the company
- The impact should this event actually occur
- The probability of its occurrence
- A summary of the planned response should the event occur
- A summary of risk mitigation (the actions that can be taken in advance to reduce the probability and/or impact of the event).

Directors of smaller unlisted companies should approach professional advisers to gain input on how to establish appropriate internal control processes. As the company grows in size and complexity, it will be necessary to move towards a more professional system of internal control. Strong financial controls will become a significant requirement if the company ϕ by ϕ

Notwithstanding the development of more sophisticated internal controls, the CEO should always view him/herself as the de facto chief risk officer, and seek to encourage an appropriate sense of risk consciousness at all levels of the company.

In larger companies, risk management may become a particular focus of a boardroom audit committee or an internal audit department. However, even when many aspects of risk management are delegated to specific individuals or corporate bodies, it is important that the board as a whole retains ownership of risk supervision.

All members of the board should have a feeling for the main business risks. Furthermore, the board should establish ways of monitoring the development of these risks and seek reassurance that such risks are being managed in an appropriate manner by the management team.

A company manual should be available to all employees, and should outline policies and procedures relating to the specific risks to which the company is exposed. For example, policies should be developed with regard to:

- anti-fraud
- anti money-laundering
- cash management
- monitoring of banking covenants
- business continuity
- data security and reliability
- records management
- regulatory compliance
- health and safety compliance
- anti-bribery procedures.

Procedures which are likely to support an effective internal control environment are likely to include:

- authorisation limits
- segregation of duties
- accounting reconciliations and monitoring of cash flow
- suitable qualifications and training
- budgetary controls
- · controls over funds, expenditure, and access to bank accounts
- security of premises and control over assets.

In fulfilling its control and oversight responsibilities, it is important for the board to encourage the reporting of unethical/unlawful behaviour by employees. The existence of a company code of ethics should aid this process and should be underpinned by legal protection for the individuals concerned.

Page 71

Principle 7: There should be a dialogue between the board and the shareholders based on a mutual understanding of objectives. The board as a whole has responsibility for ensuring that a satisfactory dialogue with shareholders takes place. The board should not forget that all shareholders have to be treated equally.

Key points

- The board should keep in touch with shareholder opinion in whatever ways are most practical and efficient.
- The chairman has particular responsibility for the effectiveness of communication between shareholders and the board, and should discuss corporate governance and strategy with shareholders.
- The chairman is the primary means of ensuring that the views of shareholders are communicated to the board as a whole. However, other directors should also be offered the opportunity of attending meetings with shareholders.
- A key role of the chairman is to set the agenda of the Annual (and Extraordinary) General Meetings.
- The relationship with the shareholders should be viewed as a continuous process and not limited to an annual formal meeting.

Practical considerations for unlisted companies

Shareholders of unlisted companies may particularly value a close dialogue with boards due to the illiquidity of their shareholdings. In contrast to listed companies, they are less able to express their views on a company's strategy and risk profile through the buying and selling of their shares.

Engagement and communication with boards allows them to ensure that the company is moving in a direction that is consistent with their interests (particularly with regard to the risk/reward profile of the company's strategy). It is, therefore, a key way in which they may seek to manage the higher liquidity risk of their ownership stakes.

In contrast to listed companies, UK company law does not require unlisted companies to hold an Annual General Meeting (AGM). Nonetheless, companies may find that an AGM is a useful way to structure a dialogue with shareholders that are not involved in the management of the company.

It is also likely to be a useful means of developing board-shareholder dialogue in cases where the shareholders are a relatively large and heterogeneous group.

An AGM provides a well established mechanism in which to review the activities and performance of the past year, and to discuss the future prospects of the company.

However, in certain cases, shareholders may require a much more frequent and ongoing dialogue with the board. Alternatively, the main shareholders may still be actively involved in the company as managers and/or directors.

Ultimately, board-shareholder dialogue and engagement should be structured to suit the particular circumstances of each company.

Boards should give particular thought to how they communicate the company's strategy and risk profile to shareholders. This should be done in a way that is both understandable and meaningful.

Furthermore, it should be undertaken in a spirit that recognises that a key duty of the board is to ensure that the activities of the company remain for \overline{P} age $\overline{\sqrt{12}}$ the interests of shareholders.

Principle 8: All directors should receive induction on joining the board and should regularly update and refresh their skills and knowledge.

Key points

- The rigour and formality of the induction should reflect the size and complexity of the enterprise.
- The chairman should ensure that the directors continually update their skills, and obtain the knowledge and familiarity with the company required to fulfil their role on the board.
- The chairman should encourage board members to engage in professional training that specifically enhances their functioning as company directors.

Practical considerations for unlisted companies

Director orientation is an essential means of providing non-executive directors with the informational building blocks they need to effectively engage in strategic reflection and oversight. It is also important for executive directors, who may come from a functional background and may not yet be used to exercising oversight across the company as a whole.

New directors may wish to request the opportunity to meet fellow board members in advance of the first board meeting. A request for orientation by a new director sends a strong signal that the director is serious about his or her role on the board.

In the UK, it is possible for directors to develop and update their director-specific skills by qualifying as a Chartered Director. Such a professional qualification provides a framework within which to undertake continuing professional development. It also establishes an ethical and disciplinary framework within which to hold directors to account.

Principle 9: Family-controlled companies should establish family governance mechanisms that promote coordination and mutual understanding amongst family members, as well as organise the relationships between family governance and corporate governance.

Key points

- The choice of family governance processes will depend on the size of the business, the number of family members, and the degree of involvement of family members in the business.
- A family constitution or protocol should outline the vision and objectives of the family for the business. It should define the roles of family governance bodies, and their relationship with the board of directors. It should also state key family policies, e.g. relating to family members' employment, transfer of shares, and CEO succession.
- Family governance bodies such as a family assembly and a family council provide family members with a forum in which to discuss the affairs of the family and the family business, and assist the development of a coordinated family approach.
- A clear distinction in governance status must be made between family institutions and the formal governance structures of the company. The role of the board, shareholder meetings, etc, must be fully understood by family members.

Practical considerations for unlisted companies

Most family companies are unlisted enterprises. Howag, Ges Tash shows that family businesses have a short

lifespan beyond the generation of the founding-entrepreneur. Very few survive into the third generation of ownership. Family businesses can improve their odds of survival by setting the right governance structures in place and by starting the educational process of the subsequent generations as soon as possible.

Many founding-entrepreneurs or chairs of family companies find it difficult to differentiate their decision-making between family matters (continuity, valuation, liquidity, transmission, dividends, etc) and corporate matters (operation-related decisions).

When the company is still under the control of the founding entrepreneur, few family governance issues may be apparent. However, over time and several generations, the family is likely to increase in size and complexity. Family members may develop different preferences for the business. For example, a decision to reinvest profits in the company instead of distributing them as dividends may be supported by an owner-manager but opposed by a retired family member who relies on dividends as a main source of income.

A further problem for larger families is that members who work in the business have greater access to information than those whom are not directly involved in the business.

In such circumstances, it becomes desirable to establish family governance structures that establish a level playing field for company information, promote discipline among family members, prevent potential conflicts, and ensure the continuity of the business.

Once such structures are created, it must be clear that family governance should be distinct from business governance, with each institution having its specific composition, duties, and matters to discuss and decide upon.

A family constitution outlines how this family governance structure should work. It clarifies the family's approach with respect to the following:

- The family's values, mission statement, and vision
- The role of family institutions, such as the family assembly and the family council
- The role of the board of directors, and its relationship to the family institutions
- Policies regarding important family issues, such as employment policies with respect to family members, restrictions on transfers of shares, and succession policy with respect to the CEO
- The nomination of family members to the board.

A family assembly may meet once or twice per year, and brings together all members of the family. It allows family members to stay informed about the business and furnishes them with the opportunity to voice their opinions. It helps avoid potential conflicts that might arise due to an unequal access to information and other resources.

A family council is a small group of family members or family representatives that acts as the primary decision-making body of the family vis-à-vis the company. It is also the main communication link between the family and the company and has a crucial role in conveying the expectations of the family owners to the board. It is normally elected by the family assembly.

Family institutions can play a useful role in coordinating and unifying the interests of extended families. However, the most important step for ensuring the long-term survival of a family company is the establishment of a strong board with independent non-executive board members¹³ (see principle 11).

Page 74

Corporate Governance Guidance and Principles for Unlisted Companies in the UK

Phase 2 principles – applicable to:

- Larger and/or more complex unlisted companies
- Unlisted companies with significant external financing
- Unlisted companies aspiring to a public listing

Principle 10: There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the head of the company between the running of the board and the running of the company's business. No one individual should have unfettered powers of decision.

Key points

- In larger companies, the roles of chairman and chief executive (or managing director) should not be exercised by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive should be clearly established, set out in writing, and agreed by the board.
- Over time, companies should strive to nominate an independent chairman. However, as an interim measure, appointment of the exiting CEO (e.g. the founding entrepreneur or pater familias) as chairman may be the most viable option.

Practical considerations for unlisted companies

Smaller unlisted companies may not have the resources to appoint a separate board chairman. However, the roles of chairman and chief executive are fundamentally different. Consequently, once a company expands beyond a certain size and level of complexity, the board should give thought to splitting the two roles.

The chairman is pivotal to the operation of the board. He or she must coordinate the contributions of the non-executive directors to ensure that the executive team is subject to a sufficient degree of oversight. There is a danger that the fulfilment of this role will be compromised if the chief executive is also fulfilling the role of chairman.

It is sensible to explicitly clarify the chairman's role vis-à-vis the role of the chief executive through a formal statement of responsibilities. This document should define what matters are reserved for the board and what matters are reserved for management. As a general rule, the chief executive leads the management team and runs the company while the chairman leads the board.

The statement of responsibilities should be reviewed periodically. Developing such a statement is a useful way of ensuring that everyone understands their role and is not stepping on anyone's toes, and that there are no surprises.

Once appointed, the chairman is required to walk a narrow line. He or she must be sufficiently informed, engaged, and able to intervene when required, but must avoid becoming too involved with the day-to-day business of the company. Board dysfunction is likely to result when the distinct roles of the chief executive and chairman are not properly understood or respected.

Principle 11: All boards should contain directors with a sufficient mix of competencies and experiences. No single person (or small group of individuals) should dominate the board's decision-making.

Key points

• Although there may be difference depending on the standard of the standard o

of larger companies should include a sufficient number of non-executive and independent directors.

- The largest unlisted enterprises or unlisted enterprises working towards a public listing on a regulated market should aim to add non-executive directors and preferably independent directors to boards until they represent a significant proportion of board seats (although the exact proportion will be a matter for the judgement of individual boards).
- Care should be taken to ensure that non-executive or independent appointees have enough time available to devote to the job. This is particularly important in the case of chairmanships. The letter of appointment should set out the expected time commitment. Non-executive or independent directors should undertake that they will have sufficient time to meet what is expected of them. Their other significant commitments should be disclosed to the board before appointment and the board should be informed of subsequent changes.
- The chairman should facilitate the effective contribution of non-executive and independent directors and ensure constructive relations between all directors.
- Non-executive and independent directors should constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy.
- Non-executive directors and independent directors should scrutinise the performance of management in meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the reporting of performance.
- Non-executive directors and independent directors should satisfy themselves on the integrity of financial information and make sure that financial controls and systems of risk management are robust and defensible (although their approval remains a collective responsibility).
- Non-executive directors and independent directors should assume primary responsibility for determining appropriate levels of remuneration of management, including executive directors. They should also play a leading role in appointing, and where necessary removing, executives, and in succession planning.
- The chairman may decide to hold meetings with the non-executive directors without the executive directors present.
- Non-executive or independent directors may be appointed for a specified term (e.g. an initial mandate for three years, possibly renewable a couple of times). Decisions to extend terms of service should balance the need for company-specific experience (which may take time to acquire) and the benefits of a progressive refreshing of the board. It should also be recognised that serving for many years on a board may affect external perceptions of a non-executive director's independence.
- On resignation, a non-executive director should provide a written statement to the chairman, for circulation to the board, if they have significant concerns about the running of the company.

Practical considerations for unlisted companies

Once a company reaches a certain size and level of complexity, an independent board, i.e. a board containing independent non-executive directors and not entirely composed of company or family insiders, becomes essential to the long-term success and survival of the company.

Even for Phase I companies, the introduction of external directors onto the board is a key event in the corporate governance development of an unlisted company. However, once such companies become larger or have more complex shareholding structures, they should progressively rely more on non-executive and independent directors (eventually up to a majority of board seats for those interested in listing on the stock exchange). More diverse board composition generates a significant impetus towards better governance and is likely to have significant impetue on the culture of boardroom decision-making.

The key benefits of including independent non-executive directors on the board include the following:

- Bringing an outside perspective on strategy and control
- Adding new skills and knowledge that may not be available within the firm
- Bringing an independent and objective view from that of the owner
- Making hiring and promotion decisions independent of family ties
- Bringing an independent view whenever there may be conflicts of interest within the board
- Acting as a balancing element between the different shareholders (e.g. members of the family) and, in some cases, serving as objective judges of disagreements amongst family members or managers
- Benefiting from their business connections and other contacts.

Director independence is not a concept that can be precisely defined. However, factors which may be of relevance in establishing the perceived independence of a non-executive director include the following:

- Has not in recent years been an employee of the company
- Has not a material business relationship with the company
- Does not receive (additional) remuneration from the company during the period of appointment as a director (apart from the director's fee)
- Does not have close family ties with any of the company's advisers, directors, or senior employees
- Does not hold cross-directorships or have significant links with other directors through involvement in other companies or bodies
- Does not represent a significant shareholder
- Has not served on the board for an extended period.

However, these are only guidelines. Ultimately, it is a matter for the board to determine if the director is independent in character and judgement, and whether there are relationships or circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear to affect, the director's judgement.

For example, extended service on a board is sometimes thought to negatively impact director independence. However, this will depend on the individual director. A director who serves on a board for an extended period should still be considered independent if that director possesses strength of character and is willing and able to challenge management, while providing value added on the base of in-depth knowledge of the company and its strategic challenges.

Non-executive board members will not typically have the same access to information as executive directors or the owner-manager. The contributions of non-executive board members can be enhanced by providing them with access to managers within the company (although such contacts should be coordinated with management, and non-executives should take care not to undermine the authority of the management).

In certain circumstances, non-executives may also be assisted by offering access to independent external advice at the expense of the company, although this generally is undertaken with the knowledge of the board as a whole, in order to avoid creating a confrontational atmosphere between executive and non-executive board members.

In smaller unlisted companies it may be tempting to seek the assistance of independent non-executive directors in undertaking management or staff functions. However, independent directors should not generally be involved in operational functions or take the considerable consultancy role.

Independent directors need to retain a degree of distance from operational activities. Their specific role is to ensure that the management team is taking the correct steps and is using available resources in the most efficient manner. If independent directors do assume an additional consultancy role, it should receive explicit approval from the board.

The board should consider appointing a company secretary who reports to the chair (via a joint report to the chief executive) to ensure that directors receive information in a timely way without excessive reliance on management (even if this is not a formal legal requirement). A board with its own secretariat will generally be in a stronger position to demand information than a board whose secretary reports solely to the chief executive.

However, such designated administrative support for non-executive directors is only likely to be commercially viable in relatively large unlisted companies.

Principle 12: The board should establish appropriate board committees in order to allow a more effective discharge of its duties.

Key points

- A company's committee structure should be proportionate to the needs of the company. However, most large unlisted enterprises are likely to require a nomination committee, remuneration committee, and audit committee. Other committees may be established if required in particular circumstances.
- The board should define in writing the terms of reference of the various committees, explaining their role and the advisory authority delegated to them by the board. These terms of reference should be reviewed by the board on a periodic basis.
- Committees should be provided with sufficient resources to undertake their duties.
- Independent non-executive directors should play a significant role in boardroom committees.

Practical considerations for unlisted companies

A nomination committee can be established to lead the process for board appointments and make recommendations to the board. The role of the nomination committee is to evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge, and experience on the board, as well as amongst top management. In the light of this evaluation, it will prepare a description of the role and capabilities required for a particular board appointment, and propose a management succession plan.

A remuneration committee is granted delegated responsibility for proposing the remuneration of all executives, including pension rights. The committee should also define and monitor the level and structure of remuneration for senior management.

It may make sense to (initially) combine the responsibilities of the nomination and the remuneration committee into a single committee.

The audit committee plays a particularly important role in the monitoring and oversight of larger companies. The main responsibilities of the audit committee include the following:

- To monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the company
- · To review the company's internal controls and risk management systems
- To monitor and review the effectiveness of the company's internal audit function
- To make recommendations to the board in a green 708 he appointment or removal of the external auditor

- To approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor
- To review and monitor the external auditor's independence and effectiveness
- To develop and implement policy on the engagement of the external auditor to supply non-audit services
- To review the risk situation, and to monitor risk-management processes.

Given the relatively technical nature of the audit committee's activities, the board should satisfy itself that at least one member of the audit committee has recent and relevant financial experience. In practice, this is likely to mean that this individual has an accountancy qualification, and has gained relevant financial experience while working as an auditor or financial manager. The majority of the members of the audit committee should be non-executive, and preferably independent directors.

Where there is no internal audit function, the audit committee should consider whether there is a need for an internal audit function and make recommendations to the board.

The audit committee should also review arrangements by which staff of the company may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters ("whistleblowing").

No one other than the committee chairman and members should be entitled to be present at a meeting of boardroom committees. However, others may attend at the invitation of the committees.

Principle 13: The board should undertake a periodic appraisal of its own performance and that of each individual director.

Key points

- The rigour and formality of the appraisal techniques utilised by the board should reflect the size and complexity of the enterprise. Once again, a stepwise or phased approach is the best route ahead for smaller companies.
- The chairman should use the appraisal process to obtain feedback on the effectiveness of his or her management of the board.
- Group appraisal should examine how the board operates as a collective decision-making body.
- Individual appraisal should aim to show whether each director continues to contribute effectively and to demonstrate commitment to the role (including commitment of time).
- The chairman should act on the results of the appraisal by recognising the strengths and addressing the weaknesses of the board and, where appropriate, proposing new members be appointed to the board or seeking the resignation of directors.
- Special attention should also be paid to the assessment of the collaboration with the (executive) management.

Practical considerations for unlisted companies

The chairman is responsible for working with the board to ensure that it is a high-performing team composed of the right people. He or she occupies a crucial position with respect to board functioning. Board dysfunction will result if the chairman is not sufficiently focused on board dynamics and behaviour.

Chairs cannot improve their chairmanship without honest and constructive feedback. They must be open to input from the rest of the board in order to improve their performance.



There are many ways to undertake board appraisal, including self-evaluations, third-party facilitations, and peer reviews prior to re-election to the board. Board appraisal conducted by independent external facilitator is likely to be more objective in its rigour than self-assessment, and should be favoured as the firm grows in size and complexity.

Board appraisals should be designed to elicit an honest discussion about what is going right and what is going wrong on the board. Some of the key questions that an appraisal should address include the following:

- Is the distribution of power in the boardroom appropriate?
- Is there sufficient challenge of executive management in board meetings?
- Does the board have the right balance between expertise and independence?
- Does the board correctly perform its duties? Are directors setting direction (guidance and advice on strategy) and monitoring the company (control and risk management) and its management?
- Do board members devote sufficient time and effort to the company and their boardroom role?
- Do board members have adequate access to information and advice?
- Does the board engage sufficiently with shareholders and key stakeholders?
- Are there personal factors that might inhibit individual board members from fulfilling their duties in an independent and objective manner?

Evaluating individual directors is a very sensitive issue, given the fact that the board is a collegial body, composed of peers. Therefore caution will be necessary in order to avoid possible conflicts and frustrations. Here again, the chairman or an external facilitator can be instrumental in bridging the gap between individual and confidential evaluations and a more global discussion of the board's effectiveness, remuneration, and composition.

Feedback to the board as a whole can be provided by the chair or external facilitator. The chairman should also be able to provide individual directors with feedback as needed so as to encourage self-improvement. The chairman should coach individual directors by providing continuous feedback and assigning them to work with others to improve board dynamics and teamwork.

The board should also be responsible for evaluating the chief executive. The chairman should drive the process. One approach for the chairman is to gather a self-assessment from the CEO and compare it with the confidential information gathered from the other directors and use this information in appraisal discussions with the chief executive. It is important to integrate in such an appraisal exercise the mutual evaluation of the collaboration between the board and the management.

A strong-minded independent chairman is in a good position to assess the performance of individual directors and that of the executive director or top manager. However, a chairman that is too close to management will lack objectivity and credibility in fulfilling the assessment of management. This also holds for evaluating the performance of the role of chairman versus that of CEO. This highlights the need for the chairman to retain an independent profile relative to the chief executive or otherwise appoint a lead director and/or involve an external facilitator for such assessment.

Although a formal or externally administered boardroom appraisal process may only make sense for larger unlisted companies, all companies should recognise the importance of periodically evaluating the effectiveness of the board as a decision-making unit.

Principle 14: The board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company's position and prospects for external stakeholders, and establish a suitable programme of stakeholder engagement.

Key points

• The board should publish an annual report that is tailored to the needs of its shareholders and its other stakeholders.

Practical considerations for unlisted companies

A strong disclosure regime that promotes transparency will be a pivotal feature of a company's relationship with stakeholders. Disclosure improves public understanding of the structure and activities of the company, its policies with respect to environmental and ethical standards, and its relationship with the communities in which it operates.

The annual report is an important means of communicating with stakeholders (as well as shareholders). Apart from the traditional financial reporting, annual reports can include more information on the following corporate issues:

- A statement of the company's vision and values.
- A narrative outline of the company's business strategy and the likely risks associated with that strategy.
- A review of the company's activities and performance, and a forward-looking assessment of its business environment.
- A statement of its corporate governance principles and the extent to which it has complied with a specific corporate governance code, with additional governance information, such as:
 - a statement of how the board operates, including a high-level statement of which types of decisions are to be taken by the board and which are to be delegated to management;
 - the names of all the directors, including the chairman, the chief executive, and the chairmen and members of the nomination, audit and remuneration committees (if relevant);
 - the names of the non-executive directors whom the board determines to be independent, with reasons for that assessment where necessary;
 - details of how any evaluation of the board, its committees, and its directors has been conducted.
- A summary of activities and projects of special relevance to stakeholders.

The content of the annual report will become more important as the company develops.

Social responsibility projects can act as a major point of engagement with stakeholders. They should be integrated into the company's activities and included in management's list of strategic goals.

Direct communication between directors and employees can be an effective way of driving a message home across an organisation. They help to ensure that everyone is "singing from the same hymn book". In cases where such communication takes place on the initiative of individual directors, such contacts should be in line with a general "internal governance" policy developed by the board. If such policy is not yet developed, it is good practice to inform the chairman and CEO before taking any such steps.

However, in all such direct meetings with employee the direct or should emphasise that the chief executive is ultimately in charge of the management of the company. Directors should ensure that they

communicate confidence in the management team, and avoid discussing detailed management issues with employees to minimise the risk of mixed messages.

The board can facilitate communications by providing a contact person with whom stakeholders may discuss any issues. During times of change, it may be useful for the board to communicate regularly with stakeholders to explain what is happening at the company. For example, stakeholders of a company contemplating a major expansion or retrenchment – or merger with another company – may wish to meet with the board to discuss the proposed strategy for the new organisation.

Stakeholders – including individual employees and their representative bodies – should be able to freely communicate their concerns about illegal or unethical practices to the board. Their position should not be compromised for doing this. Unethical and illegal practices by corporate officers may not only violate the rights of stakeholders but also be to the detriment of the company in terms of reputation effects with an increasing risk of future financial liabilities. It is therefore to the advantage of the company to establish procedures and safe harbours for complaints by stakeholders.

Page 83

This page is intentionally left blank